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1.0 
Introduction
This report provides a review of heritage issues associated with the development of precinct built form controls for the area surrounding the Queen Victoria Market.  In particular the report addresses the findings on heritage contained in the Queen Victoria Market Renewal Precinct Built Form Controls Review and Recommendations report by Jones & Whitehead. 
Amongst other matters that report identified a need to revisit and redefine the key attributes which are seen to contribute to the Market Precinct heritage overlay (HO) area, HO7, which incorporates part of the market setting.  The report also further explores this issue in the context of three specific questions raised in the brief:
1. Is there an area around QVM where there are special market-related heritage issues? 
2. What heritage values are important to protect within that area?
3. Can those values be linked to built form controls on new development?
The report should be read in conjunction with the April 2015 Jones & Whitehead report and does not reproduce the contextual planning detail contained in this report.
While the report comments on the market as a whole and areas abutting it on all sides, the focus is on those areas on the southern edges of the market which are the subject of the Jones and Whitehead Precinct Built Form Controls Review and Recommendations Report.
1.1 The heritage context
1.1.1 The Market and Market precinct

The Queen Victoria Market, as bounded by Peel Street to the west, Victoria Parade to the north, Elizabeth Street to the east and Therry, Queen and Franklin streets to the south is the subject of a site specific HO (HO496), and is also included in an HO precinct; the Market Precinct (HO7).  The Market is also included on the Victorian Heritage Register (H734) and HO496 in part reflects the VHR extent (Figure 1).   Missing from the mapping of HO496 is the southern car park area and the Franklin Street stores, areas which are included in the recently expanded extent of registration (Figure 2).
The Market Precinct, HO7, was formalised in the mid 1980s, as one of ten heritage precincts identified in the Capital City Zone (CCZ).  The significance of the precinct, as identified in Clause 22.04 Heritage Places Within the Capital City Zone, is as follows:

Statement of Significance

The Queen Victoria Market is one of the great 19th century markets of Australia and the only such market built by the Melbourne City Council to survive. The complex of enclosed food halls, open sheds, shops and stores illustrate a complete mode of commercial transaction, which is today substantially similar to the pattern in 1878 when the main fruit and vegetable market was opened. The Market was the principle [sic] market of fresh fruit and vegetable produce in Victoria from 1878 to 1975 and had a profound effect on the whole system of growing, selling and distribution in the state. As a retail market, it has been an important meeting place for a large component of Melbourne’s population and remains a vital link with a part of Melbourne’s domestic life.

Key Attributes

· The historic character of the precinct as a retail area.

· The generally simple, low-scale and remarkably intact example of a utilitarian form from the period of its construction. Taken as a whole, the Market and its component buildings are substantially intact in its 1923 form.

· The visual dominance of the Queen Victoria Market in the surrounding area.
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Figure 1
Extent of land and buildings included on the Victorian Heritage Register
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Figure 2
Currently mapped extent of HO496;  the mapping has yet to be updated to include land to the south, now included in the VHR
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Figure 3
The Market Precinct HO7
1.1.2 City North Heritage Review Amendment C198 

The Market Precinct HO area (HO7) and a number of the surrounding buildings, most recently have been reviewed in the City North Heritage Review.  The review has been considered by a Planning Panel and the panel report and recommendations have been considered by Council and the amendment forwarded to the Minister.  With regard to the market area, the Panel report recommends the deletion of the triangle of land at the far south-west corner of HO7, which comprises a median car parking area on Franklin Street, and some minor adjustments on Elizabeth Street.  The report also recommends the re-grading of buildings in Therry Street and in part of Queen Street, to ‘C’ in a level 2 streetscape (these buildings are currently either ungraded or graded ‘D’ in a level 3 streetscape). 
In considering the buildings in Therry and Queen streets, the Panel noted:
The Panel reviewed the Therry Street buildings and has concluded that the streetscape is consistent, and although there have been some changes to the façade of the 93-151 Therry Street buildings and the Queen Street frontage, the buildings are significant.  They are not representative, but rather, a distinctive group contributing to the environs of the Queen Victoria Market and a C grade is warranted.

The City North Heritage Review contains a further detailed assessment of the significance of the precinct (Appendix A).  Albeit the issue of the significance of the contribution which the Therry and Queen Street buildings make to the precinct was flagged in the Panel report, the City North Heritage Review citation provides limited support for this proposition.  While identified and described in the history and description of the precinct, no reference is made to the values which these buildings contribute to the precinct or their particular relationship with the Market.
1.1.3 The surrounding area

The area around the Market varies in age and intensity of development.  To the west, the Peel Street frontage presents to the historically low-scale commercial and residential development on the west side of the street (Figure 4).  Notwithstanding more recent development and the presence of three and four level buildings, the heights on the Peel Street frontage sit comfortably with the scale of the Market buildings.  This Market edge presents with an active frontage and as part of the largely low scale nineteenth century precinct.  While a number of buildings in Peel Street operate as commercial premises, there is however no sense that there is a strong long-term Market link as related to their operations.
To the north on Victoria Street, the lower traditional built form evident in Peel Street, continues on the north side of the street.  The Peel Street Victoria Street intersection is still strongly marked by nineteenth century hotels and commercial buildings (Figure 5).  Moving to the east along the north side of Victoria Street, taller buildings are more evident, particularly around O’Connell Street.  The area as a whole evidences stronger commercial activity in the early built form, some of which may have serviced the Market.  Notwithstanding the greater heights and larger footprints the area still presents as part of the traditional North Melbourne built form.  The Market edge on Victoria Street is in many respects a fortified edge on which the one and two storey terraces of shops present as a physical and visual barrier (Figure 6).  There is currently little sense of the liveliness which is evident on the active Market frontages to Peel and Queen streets.
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Figure 4
Peel Street looking north to Victoria Street
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Figure 5
The intersection of Peel Street with Victoria Street, defined by its traditional nineteenth century corner buildings
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Figure 6
View looking east down Victoria Street showing the wall of shops along the northern edge of the Market
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Figure 7
The formal Market hall entry on the corner of Elizabeth and Victoria streets

Arriving at the Elizabeth Street and Victoria Street intersection the scale of the intersection is such that there is little physical connection between the Market buildings and the diverse built form which populates the opposite corners.  The combination of the solid presentation of the Market hall fronts and the distance to the opposite side of the street renders any meaningful connection related to common, scale, form or composition as limited.  The Market at this point in many respects presents as a contained place with a formal presence in the surrounding urban fabric (Figure 7).
Along the west side of Elizabeth Street the physical presentation of the Market is as a continuation of the buildings which extend from the south (Figure 8).  Between A’Beckett Street and Victoria Street the traditional one and two storey nineteenth century commercial built form is still strongly evident.  Opposite, the high rise city is equally strongly in evidence in the towers rising on the street edge or in close proximity.   As with other locations within and on the edges of the city this is a point of dramatic contrast in the scale of old and new built form.
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Figure 8
View looking south down Elizabeth Street

On Therry Street there is a unique market boundary condition where the street itself is narrower and more intimate, as compared to other streets around the site.  It is a street in which there is an awareness of both sides of the street contributing to the atmosphere of the market environs.  While in many respects the buildings are individually of limited heritage significance, they are of a comfortable scale as related to the market buildings (Figure 9 & Figure 10).
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Figure 9
View looking west up Therry Street from Elizabeth Street
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Figure 10
View looking east down Therry Street from near Queen Street
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Figure 11
View looking south over the lower market c. 1920s, prior to construction of the Dairy Hall in 1928.  The Jas. A Munro building can be seen and the yet to be developed corner of Therry and Queen streets

Source: State Library of Victoria
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Figure 12
View looking south along Queen Street from the corner of Therry Street.
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Figure 13
View looking east down Franklin Street from William Street
Progressing into Queen Street, while older buildings continue along the east side of the street, any direct contextual relationship with the Market falls away as the sheds end and the interface is with the open car park area.  The buildings contain a range of commercial operations, similar to those found in the Market, but these present are largely opportunistic uses rather than ones of long standing (Figure 12).
Finally on Franklin Street on the north side the Market boundary is defined by the stores buildings (Figure 13), while the south side of the street comprises a mix of individually significant buildings and more recent development.  There is no strong visual or physical link between the Market and its surrounds at this point and it is very much an interface in which high rise development is more strongly present.
2.0 Heritage sensitivities in the surrounding area 
In reviewing the Market in the context of the surrounding areas, it is evident that the Market has traditionally operated as an island site and it continues to exist operationally and physically quite independently of its surrounds.  While on all of the boundaries there is a heritage context, the significance of the Market is not reliant upon that context.  
The boundary interface condition with the western and northern boundaries in particular has been to a degree a static one, in which change in built form presentation and interface has been modest and limited.  This is as compared to the interface to the east and south, where growth and development in the central city area has resulted in a more dynamic condition.  In this regard the experience of the Market as a nineteenth century heritage place, set in a nineteenth century built form context is most readily understood along the Peel Street and Victoria Street frontages and less so on the frontages to the east and south.  On the latter frontages, and taking into account newer development behind, the interface is one in which the lower-scale streetscape elements and taller cityscape forms begin to merge.  

On Therry Street as returning into Queen Street, the immediate context is one of older buildings, which in scale and appearance resonate with the Market character.  While these buildings contribute to streetscape character, however, their individual heritage significance is relatively low.

Further south, on the Franklin Street boundary, the Market has a clearly defined edge in the Franklin Street stores.  The road, and central median and car park area provides a substantial break between the stores and the development to the south.   While the south side street wall comprises a number of heritage buildings of individual interest, there is not a strong connection between these buildings and the Market area. 

Behind both of these frontages the central city tower development is readily apparent.  This development has occurred progressively over the past century, but in the last decades has become more pronounced and crept closer to the Market boundary.  From a heritage perspective, while there has always been a sensitivity to the interface of the central city tower development with the Market, as a consequence of more recent development in the area that sensitivity is perhaps now more related to the ground plane pedestrian level condition, rather than to the overall scale and height of these buildings.  In this regard the manner in which these interfaces are managed from a heritage planning perspective warrants review.
3.0 Protection of heritage values in the Market environs area

The area surrounding the Market is comprehensively covered by existing precinct based and individual site based HOs (Figure 14).  Subject to Ministerial approval, these will be further expanded along Elizabeth Street and in Franklin Street under the recommendations arising from Amendment C198.  Where they exist, the statements of significance of these places vary and other than for the Market Precinct HO HO7, the statements are place focussed, generally without any particular reference to the Market.
With regard to the level of heritage protection afforded by the HOs, this is consistent with all such places in the City of Melbourne and dependent upon location, development would be subject to the provisions of Clauses 22.04 Heritage Places Within the capital City Zone or 22.05 Heritage Places Outside the Capital City Zone.  Equally, decisions on development would be determined after consideration of all relevant overlay controls and broader strategic planning policy.
In the absence of existing statements or citations which identify or describe the particular heritage values which relate to the Queen Victoria Market interface with the surrounding areas, the following list identifies the attributes which can be identified as mutually supportive of the significance of both.  Most are tangible, but a number are intangible as related to the experience of the Market in both operational and non-operational modes.
North and West Melbourne, HO3

· the open, accessible, and atmospheric presence of the Market on Peel Street
· the relatively low-scale built form along Peel and Victoria streets

· the presence/predominance of the later nineteenth century buildings in both streetscapes and in the immediate areas behind

· the overall strength of the nineteenth century context – streets, buildings, tram system and landscape (Flagstaff Gardens) 

· the relatively open horizon with generous sky views

Elizabeth Street (HO1124, HO7, HO1125)
· the largely low-scale nineteenth century commercial built form including the Market front and the commercial buildings extending to the south of Therry Street

· the Market as a southern termination point of the Elizabeth Street boulevard 
· the picturesque and presentational qualities of the meat and fish halls as a formal Market address

Therry Street (HO7)

· the relatively consistent building scale and connectivity of buildings on both sides of the street as derived from similar or compatible uses

· the sense of age in the street wall and the compatibility of materials

· the relative tightness of the street and ‘Market’ atmosphere
Queen Street (HO7)

· the scale of built form and connectivity to the Market as derived from similar or compatible uses

Franklin Street (individual HOs)

· the Market edge defining function of the stores buildings

Considering these attributes and the manner in which they are reflected in existing statements of significance or planning controls it is evident that it is only in the statement for the Market Precinct (HO7) that there is any explicit connection between the Market and its environs.  The key attributes as currently identified in the Market Precinct statement of significance are:

· The historic character of the precinct as a retail area.

· The generally simple, low-scale and remarkably intact example of a utilitarian form from the period of its construction. Taken as a whole, the Market and its component buildings are substantially intact in its 1923 form.

· The visual dominance of the Queen Victoria Market in the surrounding area.
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Figure 14
Compilation map depicting existing and proposed heritage overlays

Along with the accompanying statement and as noted in the Built Form Review and Recommendations, these attributes focus on the Market itself, rather then providing any insight into the its relationship with the surrounds.  To some degree this reflects the fact that while there are a number of attributes which can be ascribed to Therry and Queen streets within HO7, as related to the Market environment, these are not necessarily attributes which are reliant on the heritage qualities or values of the existing built form.  They are attributes which arise from the compatibility of scale, appearance and function of the built form, rather than the form itself. 
In contemplating the draft Master Plan and associated precinct renewal reports it is apparent that the expectation is that the interface conditions along Therry, Queen and Franklin streets will be the subject of change.  This change is likely to include both medium and high rise development and will include the modification of the road system.  Dependent upon the nature and extent, this change is likely to impact on the heritage values of the affected areas.  In addition to the nature of the physical impact, the acceptability from a heritage perspective will also be linked to the manner in which they are determined to support the continuing operation and sustainability of the Market; a factor which is fundamental to the assessed significance of that place.
4.0 Built form controls
The Built Form Review includes a built form vision for the precinct.  This vision references the City North Structure Plan and the Draft Queen Victoria Precinct Renewal Master Plan.  In setting the vision the review identifies amongst a number of initiatives, that, ‘The built form of the QVM precinct should contribute to this combined vision by ensuring that: New Development is respectful of heritage values of the Market and other significant buildings.  As addressed below, the vision further addresses a range of other issues and attributes which to a greater or lesser degree have the potential to impact from a heritage perspective.

4.1 Built form vision

Precinct definition 
The built form vision reinforces the identification of neighbourhood interface conditions on the Market boundaries comprising West Melbourne, City North and Hoddle Grid.  This is supported from a heritage perspective, albeit that in a physical sense it would be expected that management of the heritage interface would be consistent across the western and northern boundaries, notwithstanding the different neighbourhoods.
Market interface

The Market interface is presented in the vision as one which anticipates taller built form on all boundaries, accommodating more intensive land uses.  This review of heritage issue indicates that there is a need moderate this aspect of the vision to the extent that the traditional lower scale development extending to the north and west is a valued attribute of the Market context.  This is as compared to the southern and eastern boundaries where the interface is less sensitive to scale.

Streetscape definition and activation

This aspect of the vision, to the degree that it is relevant is responsive to the review of heritage issues.
Sunlight to open spaces
This aspect of the vision is strongly supported from a heritage perspective.  The maintenance of the generous open horizon and sky views contribute to the quality of the Market experience.

Wind impact mitigation

This aspect of the built form vision has no direct bearing on heritage issues.
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Figure 15
Queen Victoria Market Precinct Framework Plan 2015

Pedestrian amenity and safety

The vision strongly encourages the provision of a pedestrian responsive environment from both an amenity and safety perspective.  While the heritage issues which have been identified in this report do not go directly to this issue, the proposition of the reinforcement of Melbourne’s traditional lane system is supported from a heritage perspective.  As contemplated, existing lane systems should be reinforced and extended.

Heritage

The focus of the vision from a heritage perspective is that development in proximity to the Market retains the ‘texture’ and ‘feel’ of the place and is responsive to the pedestrian scale.  In the Therry Street and Franklin Street interface areas this is supported by the retention of key heritage buildings while also accommodating new development.  In reviewing the heritage issues associated with the precinct, the approach is supported recognising that the retention or otherwise of individual buildings will be the subject of a considered process of assessment and review.  Critical in the decision to replace any existing fabric will be the contribution which the new building is seen to make to the heritage place.
4.2 Specific Controls
The establishment of the vision leads to the proposition of specific built form controls.  In essence these look to achieve a number of outcomes.  On the Queen Victoria site itself the recommendation is that the existing height controls, as provisioned in DDO14, be removed and that any conservation or development decisions be managed through the application of heritage policies as implemented though the Heritage Victoria approvals process.  This approach is one which is supported in the light of this review of heritage issues.

Beyond the Market the built form controls contemplate variable street wall heights for new development, with set back taller tower forms.  On Therry and Queen streets the street wall has a 20 metre maximum and on Franklin Street a 40 metre maximum.  In both cases the minimum depth of setback is 10 metres (Figure 15).  Tower heights beyond the podium setbacks would be governed by the provisions of DDO14 as amended and DPO10, and by the existing CCZ1 performance criteria.

Having reviewed the heritage issues the approach presents as acceptable, subject to ensuring that the treatment of the street wall responds, where relevant, to the heritage context.  The Built Form Review report provides guidance on podium design generally and in this context the additional issues which arise from a heritage perspective are as follows:
Therry Street, including the Queen Street corner
Where existing buildings are to be replaced a key design consideration will be the material and textural qualities of the street wall and the manner in which the lower levels are able to provide a scale and intimacy within Therry Street which maintains the Market atmosphere.  The critical area of sensitivity will be within the first 10 metre rise of the podium wall.   In such areas street verandahs and the like should be encouraged.

Queen Street

Beyond the Therry Street corner the interface sensitivity of the Queen Street frontage is lower and new development in this area should respond to the general design guidelines.
Franklin Street

The key heritage considerations on Franklin Street will be the manner in which new development interfaces with the existing stores buildings.  This is likely to impact on their existing frontage presentation to Franklin Street.  While works on the registered buildings and site will be subject to Heritage Victoria approval any new development in the area should have regard to the traditional manner in which the stores operated and presented.  The maintenance of the facade presentation on the old Franklin Street alignment would be highly desirable.  

5.0 Conclusion
In reviewing the heritage issues associated with the Queen Victoria Market environs it is evident that they vary dependent upon the boundary location.  To the north and west the boundary interface condition is one in which there is a long established understanding of heritage sensitivities.  In this regard the conclusion of this review is that the existing heritage controls both recognise the heritage significance of the areas and provide for appropriate management.  
To the east the boundary interface is more mixed and the heritage sensitivities are site specific.  As a consequence of this review there is no evidence that additional heritage controls are warranted as related to the market.

In contrast, to the south the heritage sensitivities are less exact.   While heritage in this area is a factor which has been recognised for many years, it lacks precision in the manner in which it has been established or defined.  The conclusion of this review is that while the area has a degree of sensitivity arising from its relationship to the market, this is not dependent upon the heritage qualities of the existing buildings, but rather relates to the scale and presentation of such places in delivering a market atmosphere.  In this regard and subject to design, the introduction of new built form in accordance with the Built Form Review and Recommendations should not result in an adverse impact on the market or its surrounds.
Appendix A: City North Heritage Review, Queen Victoria Market Precinct HO7

QUEEN VICTORIA MARKET PRECINCT (HO7)

Address
Refer schedule

Date/period
1869 onwards/mostly Victorian and Interwar

Building type
Commercial

Grading
Refer schedule
Previous  Grading
Refer schedule
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Figure 1: Meat Hall, 1869
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Figure 2:
Meat Hall with 1884 façade
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Figure 3:
65-81 Victoria Street
[image: image21.emf]
Figure 4:
Sheds K and L, Queen Street

Significance

What is Significant?

The land and all the buildings located on the Queen Victoria Market site and bound by Peel Street (west), Victoria Parade (north), Elizabeth Street (east), as well as Therry and Franklin Streets (south). This includes the meat and dairy halls, substation to Therry Street, all the sheds (A-F and H-M), the shops to Elizabeth Street (nos 507-523) and Victoria Street (nos 65-159) and the stores to Franklin Street (nos 160-196).

In addition, several adjacent and nearby shops:

· the east side of Elizabeth Street between Therry and Victoria Streets (nos 510-16);
· east side of Queen Street between Franklin and Therry Streets (nos 422-460);
· the south side of Therry Street between Queen and Elizabeth Streets (nos 97-141); and
· two earlier, 19th century warehouses in Franklin Street (nos 126-130 and 132-140).
How is it Significant?

The Queen Victoria Market precinct is of historic, social and aesthetic significance to the City of Melbourne.

Why is it Significant?

The Queen Victoria Market precinct is of historic and social significance as Melbourne's premier market in operation for over 130 years (since the late 1870s), with origins dating back to 1859. It is the last surviving 19th century market established by the City of Melbourne, and has been an important hub of social life in the city. The Meat Hall, the oldest extant building, was constructed in 1869. It is one of the earliest, purpose-built market complexes in Australia, with its single span roof only the second of its type when erected. The market has evolved throughout its history in line with changing requirements, with several phases of expansion. (AHC Criteria A4, B2 and G1)

The Queen Victoria Market precinct is of aesthetic significance as a fine example of a Victorian era market which retains much of its original 19th century fabric intact. Its present configuration is largely that which was established by the end of the Interwar period. Architecturally, there is a mixture of utilitarian buildings – the sheds – and more elaborate brick buildings, with the most exuberant being the 1884 façade of the Meat Hall, by noted architect William Salway. The later but more intact Dairy Produce Hall (1929) features a distinctive Georgian Revival style to the upper part of the façade in combination with Art Deco style to the lower part (canopy, tiling and shop fronts).The groups of shops to Victoria and Elizabeth Streets are rare examples of such extensive, intact rows of Victorian period commercial buildings, as are the Interwar period shops to Franklin Street. (AHC Criteria E1)

Description

The precinct covers a large area comprising approximately 7 hectares, extending between Peel Street (west), Victoria Parade (north), Elizabeth Street (east), as well as Therry and Franklin Streets (south). The site gradually slopes towards the east and is bisected by Queen Street, dividing the precinct into two parts: a larger western or upper section and a smaller eastern or lower section.

Much of the perimeter is occupied by enclosed buildings, shops and warehouses, except Peel Street, where the large sheds are widely visible. Buildings and structures occupy much of the site except for the large car parking area at the south-western end. The building stock is low-scale comprising a mixture of single and two storey structures (or their equivalent). The Victorian period buildings externally are either face brick (e.g. the bichrome groups to Victoria Street) or have a stucco finish (for instance Elizabeth Street, west side). The Interwar period buildings (e.g. both sides of Therry Street, warehouses to Franklin Street) typically have a combination of brick and stucco (to the parapet and/or architraves).

Timber-framed openings, such as double-hung sash windows, distinguish the 19th century buildings (e.g. Victoria Street) from those of the Interwar period, which are typically multi-paned and have metal-framed openings (e.g. Therry and Franklin Streets). The most distinctive buildings are the Meat and Dairy Produce halls, and the intact groups of shops from the 19th century (west side of Elizabeth and Victoria Streets).

The sheds occupy about half the area and have a consistent form regardless of age of construction, though the materials typically relate to the period of construction. All sheds have gable roofs clad in corrugated sheet metal, mostly with timber supports (Victoria and Federation periods), though the later examples (Interwar period) have steel supports, however all have a steel truss roof frame. The gable ends are mostly clad in timber boards, as are the pediments to the open aisles between sheds. A continuous verandah extends across the front of the sheds on both the Peel and Queen Streets, with cast iron columns and some steel components (bracing).

Refer to the schedule for details of the individual buildings.

History

From 1837, land on what is now the upper part of the Queen Victoria Market site was being used as Melbourne's second cemetery, after Flagstaff Hill was briefly used for internments.
 The Old Melbourne Cemetery occupied over half the subject site and was bound by Franklin Street (south), Queen Street (east), Peel Street (west) and Fulton Street (north, about where shed C is located). It was divided into sections according to faith.
 The Old Melbourne Cemetery was delineated on the 1855 Kearney Plan, surrounded by substantial areas of gardens and a slightly different configuration of streets to the east, in part due to the presence of a semi-circular garden bed in Queen Street.
 It was in turn superseded by the Melbourne General Cemetery in Carlton from 1853. Subsequently, burials were only permitted on previously purchased allotments or in family vaults until 1917, with the exception of a brief hiatus between 1864 and 1867.

In 1859 the first part of the site to be set aside for a wholesale vegetable market was the smaller, lower or eastern part (bounded by Victoria, Elizabeth, Therry and Queen Streets) of approximately 1 hectare. The Council erected a market   shed and fenced the land, however, instead of it being used by market gardeners, it became a temporary horse, cattle, pig and hay market.
 The shed was orientated parallel to Elizabeth Street, roughly where the Meat Hall is located.
 A  depiction of the building indicates that it was single storey with two parallel barrel roof sections.
 In 1867, this parcel of land was permanently reserved for general market purposes.
 Soon after, the first stage of the extant market was commenced when a dedicated meat hall was constructed in 1869. The original extent of the meat hall corresponds to about the eastern two-thirds of the extant building. The original dimensions were 78ft by 132ft (about 24 x 41 metres) and it featured a central cartway with stalls to either side.
 It was described as follows:

From the front the building exhibits no remarkable architectural features; the side view, however is effective, the monotony of the wall being broken into arched recesses, surmounted by semi-circular lights and ventilators. The roof, which is of iron, is with one exception, the largest span in the colony.

The meat market was intended as a wholesale market, however within about a decade, had been converted to a retail fish and meat market because the stalls were found to be too small and the rents too expensive.
 For a few years there was also a wood market on land near Therry Street.

The next major phase began during the late 1870s and continued to about 1890. Land to the north of the Old Melbourne Cemetery (including Fulton Street, and parcels of land between it and Victoria Street), as well as the northern part of the cemetery, was made available for market purposes under the Melbourne General Market Site Act of 1877, and more than doubled the precinct to about 4.5 acres (1.8 ha).
 Only three graves from the northern part of the Old Melbourne Cemetery had to be relocated, corresponding to the sections that had been designated for Jews, Aborigines and Society of Friends (Quakers).
 Request for tenders 'for erection of wholesale vegetable market, on ground bounded by Victoria, Queen and Peel Streets', were made in October 1877 by the City of Melbourne.
 The site henceforth became known as the Queen Victoria Market and the expanded facilities, costing about £20,000, were opened on 20 March 1878, though they were partially incomplete. Works included the eastern part of Sheds A to F, which were described as such:

The market buildings consist of six long parallel open sheds. Five of these sheds are 48ft in width, and are divided into three parts, a raised asphalted footpath with kerbing occupying the centre, whilst on each side there is accommodation for drays and their horses, the carts backing onto the kerbing.

The sheds (A to E) to the upper market were built as temporary facilities for the stall holders of the Eastern Market (corner Bourke and Exhibition Streets) whilst that was being renovated, however the wholesale stall holders did not return to this section on its completion.
 Originally, the sheds had separate verandahs and were not linked by the  existing timber pediments.
 Contracts were let to reuse at least two of the barrel vaulted sheds from the Eastern Market, which were only 20 years old, however this work did not eventuate, and three new sheds, G to I, were constructed to the lower part of the Queen Victoria Market.

In 1880 a small triangular parcel of land on Elizabeth Street was reserved for market purposes.
 It had been part of the road reserve and its acquisition allowed for development at this end of the site in 1884, when the city architect William Salway designed eight, two storey shops on Elizabeth Street (nos 507-23). At the same time, a new, more elaborate rendered façade was added to the Meat Hall; with a frieze depicting agricultural animals on the pediment above the entrance by sculptor, John Simpson McKennel.
 A few years later, the two storey shops (nos 65-81) and most of the single storey shops (nos 83-129) along Victoria Street were constructed.

By 1894 the northern half of the market was mostly developed in a configuration similar to the current circumstances. There were some minor differences however, such as butchers’ stalls along the north side of Therry Street. Also, at this time only Shed C extended to Peel Street, and there were some different buildings/structures along Peel Street in front of sheds A-B, and D-F which have since been removed. The adjoining areas, such as the south side of Therry Street and east side of Queen Street, were mostly developed, although with a different mix of buildings to the extant group. The only non-market building at this stage was the warehouse at 126-130 Franklin Street.

Further land (about ¼ acre) was acquired in 1904 at the corner of Peel and Victoria Streets (the former Orderly Room Reserve or drill hall).
 In 1911 various works were undertaken, with at least some being awarded to T. Coate. In January a tender for £3,139 was recommended to be approved, and in December a new shed was approved for £2,696, though this may be for the same project.
 These works were part of a broader program estimated to cost £16,000, described as:

Spaces will be enlarged and re-arranged, new allotments will be opened to Elizabeth Street and large, cool dust-proof structures for the sale of meat, cheese and butter will be provided.

By this stage, the Queen Victoria Market had become the main market in Melbourne and there was great pressure for additional land as stall holders from the Western Market (corner of Market and Collins Streets) were also wanting space there. The Council was slow to respond to this situation and it was not until 1917 that the Melbourne General Market Lands Act was passed, ushering in a period of major expansion and alteration.

It was during the Interwar period that the Queen Victoria Market reached its full extent in terms of land area. The first step was the acquisition of the remaining southern part of the Old Melbourne Cemetery, about 2.4 hectares.

Commencing in 1920, some 8000 graves had to be re-interred, many to Fawkner Cemetery. The work was completed by April 1922 and the land was reserved for market purposes in December 1922.
 Subsequently, there was a flurry of construction activity beginning with the single storey shops at the corner of Peel and Victoria Streets (1923), followed by the Dairy Hall and adjacent substation (1928) and the long groups of single storey buildings, including those at 160-196 Franklin Street (1930). There were initially two rows of the latter, which were employed as stores for tenants from the Western Market, which was to be closed. This section of the precinct was known as Market Square, and was entered by a formal arch to both Queen and Peel Streets, adjacent to a row of smaller buildings.
 More sheds were also erected: the western parts of sheds D-F (1922), sheds K+L (1923), which were designed for easy vehicle access, and another three (where the car park is now located), sheds M-O (1930+36), of which only shed M survives.
 It was also during this period that most of the adjacent shops were constructed on the east side of Queen Street (Munro's Corner), the south side of Therry Street (nos 97-141) and the east side of Elizabeth Street (nos 506-16), on land owned by the City of Melbourne.

By the late 1940s, the market once again reached its capacity, and so in 1956, land was granted for a new wholesale market on Footscray Road, West Melbourne, though it was another thirteen years before it was opened. In 1971 Melbourne City Council proposed to re-develop the Queen Victoria Market precinct, however these plans faced considerable resistance from the community; with the formation of the 'Keep Victoria Market Association' and the National Trust successfully campaigned to have the site protected. In 1973 the Builders Labourers Federation also placed a black ban on demotion at the site. As a result of community resistance, the City of Melbourne and the State government undertook refurbishment of the market precinct.
 This included extending the Meat Hall to Queen Street, using second- hand bricks that closely matched those of the original building. The refurbishment was managed by the Melbourne City Council architect.
 Other works have included repairs to the late Victorian, single storey shops which had been boarded up by the 1970s, and reinstating verandahs to the shops along both Elizabeth and Victoria Streets.

Recommendations

It is recommended that the Queen Victoria Market precinct be retained in the Schedule to the Heritage Overlay.

Extent of Designation

It is recommended that two shops on the west side of Elizabeth Street, nos 489-99 and 501-503 be removed from the extent of the overlay and included in another heritage overlay. It is however recommended that the group of shops opposite on Elizabeth Street, nos 506-16, be included as they form part of the square in front of the market and part of the expansive phases that occurred during the mid-20th century.

Previous Studies/Identification

Central Activities District Conservation Study 1985, Graeme Butler & Associates
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Queen Victoria Market Precinct (HO7)
Schedule

	Name
	Address
	Proposed Grading
	Previous Grading
	Date/ Period
	Description

	Shops
	506-16 Elizabeth Street, Melbourne
	C1
	-
	1922/ Interwar
	By the end of the 19th century, there was limited development on this land. Constructed as showrooms, office and shops, the verandah was added in 1923.
2 storey shops, red brick with stuccoed bands. The parapet steps down from the Victoria Street corner, which features a tower element with a flagpole, and the façade is divided into bays with Tuscan Order pilasters. Modern, sliding aluminium-framed windows replaced earlier multi- paned types. Several elaborate stained glass windows (with Art Nouveau style glass with panels and sinuous floral motifs) survive at the north end, though one of the distinctive burnished frame with arched entry (to a pair of shops) also survives at the southern end.

	Shops
	507-523 Elizabeth Street, Melbourne
	C1
	C1
	1884/ Victorian
	2 storey shops in two groups of four, separated by pedimented arched way with a cast iron verandah, which have been reinstated, extending across the group. The walls have a grey stuccoed finish with tooled lines. To the first floor, the pairs of windows are set in recessed arches with a keystone and are separated by pilasters with Tuscan Order capitals. The pilasters flanking each shop extend to the simple entablature with brackets and there are orbs to the parapet. At ground level, the metal-framed shopfronts with a brass/burnished finish (the manufacturer's name is difficult to determine) are largely intact with recessed entries, and stained glass and leadlight in a lozenge and diamond pattern above (two types are evident).
Some also have a band with rectangles and a central panel (south end).
Designed by William Salway and built by Kinnaird & McMullen for about £7000. The shop at the southern corner with a timber shop front was originally a post office.

	Meat Hall
	525 Elizabeth Street, Melbourne
	A1
	A1
	1869 (façade 1884)/ Victorian
	A large, double height building. Initially setback with a plainer façade treatment (similar to the extension at the western end, Queen St), constructed by P. Cunningham for about £3,800.
The extant façade was added by William Salway in 1884. These works were undertaken by Kinnaird & McMullen for about £3300. The stuccoed façade has paired Giant Order pilasters on tall pedestals, arched thermal windows, and recessed sections, some with doorways. The pediment has smaller pilasters, a central raked section with tympanum (concealing the lantern), bottled balustrading and orbs. The bas-relief in the tympanum features various animals and was the work of sculptor, John Simpson McKennel. Sections of the original bi-chrome treatment and arcading to the side walls are visible. A small goods section was added to the west end (Queen Street) in 1906, however the current western extension dates to the 1980s. It has a wider façade than at the east end because of the differing relationship to the street.
There were initially five doorways with timber doors to the façade, the outer two of which have been infilled.

	Warehouse
	126-130 Franklin Street, Melbourne
	D3
	D3
	19th century/ Victorian
	3 storey, masonry warehouse with basalt plinth and stuccoed façade, which appears to have been recently renewed without tooled lines. The façade consists of three separate bays, each with three windows. There are cornices at each level, with the most prominent (with brackets) being to the first floor.

	Former Gordon & Gotch warehouse (Concord House)
	132-140 Franklin Street, Melbourne
	D3
	D3
	1898/ Victorian
	Designed by architects F. Crook & N. Barnet and constructed by Clements Langford. The additional storey was probably added in 1968. The originally single storey warehouse has a rock- faced basalt plinth with red brick walls, now painted. There are six bays, four with pairs of windows. Bullnose bricks have been used extensively to the openings and the panels below the windows, and the basement windows have been blocked up.

	Warehouses
	160-176 and 180-196 Franklin Street, Melbourne
	C2
	C3
	1930/ Interwar
	Two groups of single storey warehouses, which have a panelled parapet with curved profile to the main façade (south) and a rectangular parapet to the secondary façade (north). Originally there were four windows to the gable roof to the north elevation, above the verandah, but these have been filled in/boarded over. Pilasters are also barely visible above the broad canopies with panelled edges. The upper part of the walls has a stucco finish and the lower part is of red brick. The south elevation typically has large, central, paired timber doors with a flanking, multi-paned window either side, many of which have sheeting or bars over.
There had been another row of similar warehouses to the north.

	Sheds A-E
	Peel Street, Melbourne
	A1
	A1
	1878, 1905 (west part A-C), 1922 (east part D- E)
	The first stage was constructed by James Thurgood of Hotham. They have been extended in several stages. Shed C, which was initially slightly shorter, was extended to Peel Street by 1894. All sheds were extended to Queen Street in 1903, sheds A + B were extended to Peel Street in 1905, and sheds D to F were extended to Peel Street in 1922. The extensions at the west end (Peel St) are demarcated by wider overhangs.
Plain gable ends are clad with timber boards to the sheds, alternating with a more decorative timber pediment. A verandah extends in front with cast iron columns with a plain shaft and a decorative fringe in front of a metal fascia. The roof is steel-framed and has a cantilever with bracket and a bracing frieze extends between the capitals.
Due to the slope of the site, the roof is configured in stepped sections with steel trusses and clad in corrugated metal sheeting with some translucent panels. There are curved brackets to the outer edges. The large timber posts generally have a pyramidal basalt pad footing, though these are often largely obscured by asphalt paving, and a curvilinear capital/bracket in between the beams that extend along the length of the sheds, all with chamfered edges.

	Shed F
	Peel Street, Melbourne
	A1
	It seems that this was not previously graded.
	Wall 1878 & sheds
	The wall formed part of the boundary of the Old Melbourne Cemetery.
Thomas Walker was engaged in 1877 to construct the attached shed for £2,197. The shed was initially open and individual stalls may have been introduced circa 1890, by which time it was being used for dairy products.
It was extended to Peel Street (red brick section) in 1922.
The eastern two-thirds have bi-chrome (brown and cream) brick walls with blind, segmental arches on the south side and the shops on the north side.

	Shed H-I
	Queen Street, Melbourne
	A1
	A1
	1878
	Similar to Sheds A to E, although shed H appears to be the most intact (or possibly earlier). Initially longer, they were truncated during the 1920s to allow for the introduction of the Dairy Produce Hall. There had been a third shed adjacent to the meat hall, shed G, which was built 1904/5 (probably transferred from the Eastern Market) and demolished 1980-82 to allow for expansion of meat market.

	Shed J
	Peel Street, Melbourne
	D1
	Ungraded
	1992
	This area had been a road way. This structure is clearly identifiable as a recent insertion. It has concrete piers with steel poles, a fully glazed lantern, and a segmental arch canopy at either end.

	Sheds K + L
	Peel Street, Melbourne
	A1
	A1
	1923/ Interwar
	These two sheds have a basilica-like configuration of three gable roofs, consisting of a larger central gable with lantern sections, and smaller, outer gables. The timber-framed walls of the clerestory of the main gable, and those of the central lantern with arched roof, have multi-paned windows alternating with louvered sections. There are steel supports to these sheds and a central arched entry at either end.

	Shed M
	Peel Street, Melbourne
	C1
	A1
	1936
	Built in 1936 for pea and bean merchants. A concrete floor about 30cm thick was installed to keep produce dry. It is one of three sheds of similar length that was constructed at this stage, however the other two, which were wider, have since been demolished (sheds N + O).
This shed is narrower, more modest, steel-framed structure than the nearby sheds. Enclosed sections at either end have full-height roller-doors and currently there are several container- pods installed in the intermediate area.

	Shop
	422 Queen Street, Melbourne
	C2
	C
	1964/Post war
	2 storey, distinctive design with bands of canted windows to the first floor.

	Warehouse
	432-438 Queen Street, Melbourne
	C2
	C-
	c1915/ Federation
	2 storey, stuccoed pediment, flanked by simple piers, metal-framed windows to first floor. Non- original verandah with lacework and fluted columns added since 1985

	Shop
	440-446 Queen Street, Melbourne
	D2
	-
	1955/Post war
	2 storey, first floor windows obscured.

	Shop
	450 Queen Street, Melbourne
	D2
	-
	1932(?)/ Interwar
	Single storey, altered in 1932, but may partly date to an earlier period. Brick walls, now painted. It has a broad parapet with an upper soldier course in a dogtooth format. Wide cantilevered canopy. Modern aluminium-framed openings.

	Shops (part of Munro's Corner)
	452-54 Queen Street, Melbourne
	C2
	C-
	1935/ Interwar
	Single storey with wider southern shop and narrower, northern garage. Face, clinker brick with, soldier coursing to plinth and upper part of parapet. Pilasters have stucco finish and band above window, scalloped to upper and lower margins.

	Munro's Corner
	456-60 Queen Street, Melbourne
	C2
	C-
	1935/ Interwar
	Two storey, with glazed infill section at southern end. Similar detailing as nos 452-54 (soldier coursing and stucco band with scalloped margins). Multi-paned windows and French doors to first floor. Variety of opening types to ground floor shops.

	Produce Hall
	50-60 Therry Street, Melbourne
	B2
	C
	1928/ Interwar
	An eclectic building with the upper level possessing principal characteristics of Georgian Revival style design in the vein of Sir John Soane. It is red brick with a prominent cornice and has three large arched windows to the central bay, flanked by a small rectangular window to each recessed, side bay. The multi-paned, metal-framed windows have moulded, stucco aedicules. The sawtooth roof however has timber-framed windows. Detailing below is more representative of the Art Deco style, including the awning with original metal sheeting, and the façade, which is clad with speckled tiles, including plinth and those to the entries. The original burnished shop fronts (Federal brand) survive with decorative glass (leadlight in geometric design). Internally, many original elements also survive.

	Substation
	70-74 Therry Street, Melbourne
	C2
	C
	1928/ Interwar
	The red brick building has a similar façade treatment as the upper part of the adjacent Produce Hall, with a cornice and series of stuccoed, blind arched niches. It has been extended to the west end without the same detailing.

	Shops
	97-141 Therry Street, Melbourne
	C2
	C2
	Interwar
	Extensive repair works were undertaken following a fire in 1945. There are 2 sections, nos 97-135
& 137-141. Both parts are two storey red brick. The main section has stucco parapet and multi-paned windows, though in varying rhythms and many covered by roller shutters. The smaller western end has steel-framed windows, some with hoppers and a wide entry with double doors. The shop fronts generally have textured bricks and timber-framed windows and may date to the mid-1940s.

	Shops
	65-81 Victoria Street, Melbourne
	A1
	B2
	1889/ Victorian
	Designed by the City Surveyor's department, these were built by R. C. Brocon.
They have slate clad roofs, chimneys and timber brackets to the chamfered corner at the western end. There is bi-chrome brickwork to the first floor, with cream bricks employed to the cornice, frieze and string mouldings. The ground floor façade has a stucco finish and consists of shop fronts and doorways to the first floor. The shop fronts have arched windows to the upper part and several decorative features including capitals, leafs to spandrels and a guilloche pattern to the lintel. Some early painted signage also survives. The façade has been improved by the removal of paint to the first floor and reinstatement of the cast iron verandahs.

	Shops (21)
	83-129 Victoria Street, Melbourne
	A1
	A1
	1889-90/ Victorian
	Designed by the City Surveyor's department, these were built in two stages: east part (12 shops) by R. R. Vincent (1889) and western part (9 shops) by J. R. Allen (1890). They are single storey with slate clad roofs, partly concealed by the distinctive parapet with circles. The walls are bi- chrome brick with cream brick employed to the cornices and some stuccoed elements (capitals and brackets). Remnants of black pointing are evident to the shaft of the pilasters. The shops have central recessed entries with French doors and a guilloche pattern to the lintel. Original shop fronts have arched window frames with capitals and decorative brackets to the spandrels (possibly cast iron). The shops are distinguished by both front and rear entries and the  verandahs have been replaced.

	Shops
	133-159 Victoria Street
	C1
	C1
	1923/ Interwar
	The detailing of this group at the corner of Peel Street differs from the adjacent shops along Victoria Street, including verandahs which were constructed later. The plain parapet has a stucco finish and the rectangular windows have smaller panes to the upper part and a stucco lintel above which extends across the façade.
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� 	Robert Hoddle, 'Town of Melbourne – Plan of Settlement of Port Phillip, M301C', reproduced in M. Lewis, Melbourne – The City's History and Development', p147. A cattle market was to be located to the north side of Victoria Street.
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� 	The Argus, 3 October 1877, p3


� 	The Argus, 22 April 1878, p6
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